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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

 DISTRICT OF NEVADA

STEVEN E. KROLL,!

! ! ! ! Plaintiff,

! ! vs.

INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT,  a/k/a  IVGID, a governmental subdivi-

sion of the State of Nevada; et al.,

! ! ! ! Defendants.

Case No. 3:08-cv-00166-ECR-RAM

Plaintiff’s Reply to Opposition to 

Motion to Compel Discovery and 

for Sanctions

Exhibits A, B, and C

and

Certificate of Service

! When defendants changed a sworn affidavit they had filed on April 30,  2008 to support 

their Motion to Dismiss Complaint (Doc. 8 p. 18) from being based on “the best of my recollec-

tion” to “from my review of the records of IVGID” (Doc. 14 p. 8, filed May 21, 2008), plaintiff 

served Interrogatories a few days later asking them to identify the title or description,  author, 

date, and present custodian of each of the records that Affiant had reviewed in coming to her 

conclusions.  See Doc. 25 at p. 17, served May 27, 2008.  Four months have gone by and those 

documents still remain unidentified and unproduced.

! Why is this?  The Affiant obviously knows what she looked at in coming to her twice-

made sworn conclusions, and the documents have been promised constantly, as late as defen-

dants’ September 8, 2008 Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel where counsel for defen-

dants declares that he 
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has had several conversations with Plaintiff in which [defense counsel] indi-
cated that he would endeavor to have copies of all documents referenced in 
Defendants’ interrogatory responses made and produced for Plaintiff’s re-
view.” (Doc. 26 at page 3 line 23)

Yet still these records are missing.  

! These and many other documents should have been forthcoming with the initial Rule 26 

Mandatory Disclosures, and Plaintiff hopes that a review of his “Certification of Good Faith At-

tempts to Avoid Court Intervention” (Doc. 25 pp. 10-15) will adequately rebut defendants’ decla-

ration to this Court that plaintiff’s filing of this Motion to Compel Discovery is “inappropriate 

and premature.” (Doc. 26 p. 3 line 27).   Indeed, had the defendants followed the rules, they 

would have attached authenticated copies of the documents to the affidavit itself under FRCP 

Rule 56(e)(1), which requires that “if a paper or part of a paper is referred to in an affidavit, a 

sworn or certified copy must be attached to or served with the affidavit.”  As this Court has 

stated very recently in Shuffle Master, Inc. v. MP Games LLC, No. 3:04-CV-00407-ECR (D. Nev. 03/

21/2008) at ¶41:

[I]t is generally the case that "to be considered by the court, documents must 
be authenticated by and attached to an affidavit that meets the requirements of 
Rule 56(e) and the affiant must be a person through whom the exhibits could 
be admitted into evidence." Hal Roach Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner and Co., 
Inc., 896 F.2d 1542, 1550-51 (9th Cir. 1990).

! The failure after so much time of defendant IVGID to produce the evidentiary material 

on which they rely to get dismissal of plaintiff’s Complaint raises big questions about the authen-

ticity and reliability of the records when they are ultimately produced.  Will they have been al-

tered, vetted, massaged?  Can they be trusted to represent the actual records relied upon by this 

defendant’s Affiant in concluding that plaintiff has not been required to help finance the purchase 

and upkeep of public property from which he has been excluded by law?  Or will what is finally 

produced in response to plaintiff’s Interrogatories be the work of IVGID’s lawyers and account-

ants unconcerned with the Affiant’s actual veracity in their pursuit of proving their point?  

! With the crash of venerable financial institutions and their accounting practices front 

page headlines around the country recently, it would be naive to assume that IVGID’s motives in 

continuing to withhold this evidence are totally innocent.   Plaintiff respectfully calls this Court’s 

attention to his Third Cause of Action in the Complaint (Doc. 3) alleging that the defendants 

have breached their fiduciary duties to plaintiff by, among other ways, com-
mingling the income and expenditures alleged to come from the segregated 
BEACH PROPERTIES with the General Funds of THE DISTRICT, and failing 
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and refusing despite plaintiff’s demand therefor to establish a separate and 
segregated Trust Bank Account  dedicated solely to accounting for such prop-
erties  (Doc. 3, ¶110),

and calling for 

an independent audit and court-supervised accounting of defendant IVGID’s 
books … at said defendant’s expense to try to unravel THE DISTRICT’s com-
mingled funds and ascertain the sums which must be refunded to said plaintiff 
as having been wrongfully expended for the BEACH PROPERTIES as afore-
said. (Id., ¶113).

It would seem that whatever financial sanctions may be considered for defendants’ failure to 

comply with Rule 26 Mandatory Disclosures and Rule 33 specific Interrogatories under the in-

stant Motion to Compel, the most remedial sanction would be for the Court to order such an in-

dependent audit so that all question of both the authenticity of the documents relied upon and 

the conclusions made therefrom could be finally and reliably determined.

! Regrettably, defendants’ game of Hide and Seek is repeated throughout their discovery 

responses, crippling plaintiff’s ability to prepare for motions for summary judgment based on 

undisputed facts, and for trial where the evidence requires a jury to sort out contested versions of 

the fact.  The use of Requests for Admission to authenticate documents, for example.  This useful 

tool can cut hours off the time it takes to try a case where “no substantive doubt has been raised 

that any of the exhibits are authentic, and the circumstantial evidence in each case suggests that 

the documents are in fact authentic.” Shuffle Master, Inc. v.  MP Games LLC, No. 

3:04-CV-00407-ECR (D.Nev. 03/21/2008) at paragraph 41.  Yet virtually every document which 

plaintiff asks defendants to admit is genuine is denied. Reasons range from defendant John A. 

Bohn “has no legal ability to authenticate the deed which is attached as Exhibit 2 to Plaintiff’s 

Request for Admissions”;  “Exhibit 74 does not appear to be a transcript prepared by or for the 

IVGID Board of Trustees”; defendant Trustee “has not compared the minutes attached as Exhibit 

49 to the minutes approved by the IVGID Board,” (Exhibit A attached, Response No. 1); and re-

garding a newspaper article quoting him: “John A. Bohn had nothing whatsoever to do with 

writing and/or publishing this article.” (Id., Response No. 11).  Defendant Chuck Weinberger 

cannot authenticate a photograph showing a sign saying “Private Beach” at IVID’S beach prop-

erty because “Charles Weinberger did not take the photograph, does not know when it was taken 

nor by whom it was taken [and] … has no way of determining whether the photograph is 

authentic.”  See Exhibit B attached hereto, Response No. 7.   And defendant Robert C. Wolf can-

not authenticate an October 11, 2006 memorandum from the District’s General Counsel (Exhibit 
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171 attached to his Interrogatories) because such authentication “seeks information concerning a 

privileged communication between attorney and client” (even though his counsel has actual 

knowledge that this document was submitted by the District itself in another proceeding and is 

part of the public record).  (See Answers to Interrogatories of defendant Robert C. Wolf attached 

hereto marked Exhibit C).  

! It should be noted that here again, had defendants complied with their obligations to 

produce the records requested by plaintiff or required voluntarily to be turned over,  there would 

have been no need to seek authentication of these various pieces of evidence.  This Court de-

clared in  Shuffle Master, Inc. supra at ¶ 41 of the opinion:

[D]ocuments that are produced in discovery by a party opponent are, at least 
in many if not most cases, considered authentic if there is some indication that 
the documents are what they say they are and there is no substantive challenge 
to their authenticity.… Accord McQueeney v. Wilmington Trust Co., 779 F.2d 
916, 928-29 (3d Cir. 1985) (production of documents in discovery is circumstan-
tial evidence of the documents' authenticity); United States v. Brown, 688 F.2d 
1112, 1116 (7th Cir. 1982) (same) … 

But with neither disclosure of documents by these defendants nor willingness to recognize that 

“authentication” only means that “the documents are what they say they are and there is no sub-

stantive challenge to their authenticity”, Id., see also F.R.E. 901(a),  this will be an unnecessarily 

long and painful trial without the forceful intervention of this Court at this time.

! Further evidence of such an unhappy result can be seen in defendants’ responses to the 

other discovery plaintiff has conducted to date.  When asked to admit that “the geographical 

boundary of the District as it existed in 1968 encompasses the community known as “Incline Vil-

lage,”  defendant John A. Bohn objects because it “assumes facts not in evidence,” declares that “I 

do not know the precise geographical boundaries of IVGID as of 1968” (which was not the ques-

tion), and says the Request “calls for a legal conclusion in what is meant by the term “Incline Vil-

lage”, citing a Nevada state case dealing with Rule 68 Offers of Judgment having nothing do with 

anything in this case to support that objection.  He then denies this simple, basic-fact establishing 

Request.  (See Response No. 3 in Exhibit A attached hereto).   Yet on May 30, 2008 this defen-

dant’s Reply to plaintiff’s Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 20)  gives a detailed state-

ment that 

At this time, there are 8,215 properties located within IVGID’s boundaries. Of 
that number, 7,785 are within the 1968 boundaries of IVGID, thereby permit-
ting them to use the beach properties, while 430 parcels were annexed after 
1968 and do not.  (Doc. 20 at p. 10).  
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How can Mr. Bohn’s evasive responses to this discovery request be deemed anything other than 

made in bad faith?

! Defendant John Bohn is a man who has for years publicly expounded on the 1968 Deed 

and his belief that Crystal Bay residents of IVGID such as the plaintiff are forbidden entry to the 

beaches under its terms, even declaring in official Minutes dated March 11, 2008 that “the Board 

of Trustees grants a one-time-only exception” to the Restrictive Covenant, but “if they were to put 

that in writing it would be a violation of the deed restriction which could potentially result in a 

lawsuit.”  Yet when asked in Request No. 4 to formally admit the uncontradicted premise of his 

position, that 

The Restrictive Covenant in the 1968 Deed requires exclusion from the Beach 
Properties of all persons who are not Incline Village property owners or their 
guests, or successors of the original Grantor of the Beach Properties,

Mr. Bohn suddenly finds himself unable to do so because “the Deed speaks for itself”,  and ad-

mitting this fundamental statement of fact “requires John A. Bohn to interpret the provisions of 

this deed which in turn calls for a legal conclusion.”  He then denies the Request.  In Responses 

No. 5  and 6 defendant Bohn finds it “vague and ambiguous in what is meant by the term ‘prop-

erty owners from Incline Village,’” denies that “the exclusive right of Incline Village property 

owners to enter the IVGID Beach Properties has a monetary or economic value” because he “is 

not an expert concerning the values of property located within the jurisdictional boundaries of 

IVGID,” declares that “Policy 136 speaks for itself” when asked in Request No. 17 to admit that 

“Policy 136 allows persons who are not 1968 deed holders or guests of 1968 deed holders to enter 

the Beach Properties for purposes of expressing their First Amendment rights”, and when asked 

to admit that “Policy 136 violates the 1968 Deed and Restrictive Covenant,  in your opinion”, he 

objects because it “calls for a legal conclusion” and denies the Request.   See Exhibit A attached, 

Response No. 18.   And although he declares in Response No. 12 that “it has always been the un-

derstanding of John A. Bohn that as a member of the Board of Trustees he had no authority to 

waive any of the covenants in the 1968 Deed,” he objects to admitting that “in adopting Policy 

136 the IVGID Board of Trustees administratively changed the scope of the Restrictive Covenant 

without a court order” because again, it “calls for a legal conclusion.”  Response No. 19.

! It is worth remembering at this point that  FRCP Rule 36 specifically allows Requests for 

Admissions to ask for the truth of any matters relating to “facts, the application of law to fact, or 

opinions about either.”  It is also worth pointing out that defendants are simply wrong in stating 

in their opposition to the instant motion that “the Federal Rules of Evidence do not cease to op-
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lawsuit.” Yet when asked in Request No. 4 to formally admit the uncontradicted premise of his

position, that

The Restrictive Covenant in the 1968 Deed requires exclusion from the Beach
Properties of all persons who are not Incline Village property owners or their
guests, or successors of the original Grantor of the Beach Properties,

Mr. Bohn suddenly finds himself unable to do so because “the Deed speaks for itself”, and ad-

mitting this fundamental statement of fact “requires John A. Bohn to interpret the provisions of

this deed which in turn calls for a legal conclusion.” He then denies the Request. In Responses

No. 5 and 6 defendant Bohn finds it “vague and ambiguous in what is meant by the term ‘prop-

erty owners from Incline Village,’” denies that “the exclusive right of Incline Village property

owners to enter the IVGID Beach Properties has a monetary or economic value” because he “is

not an expert concerning the values of property located within the jurisdictional boundaries of

IVGID,” declares that “Policy 136 speaks for itself” when asked in Request No. 17 to admit that

“Policy 136 allows persons who are not 1968 deed holders or guests of 1968 deed holders to enter

the Beach Properties for purposes of expressing their First Amendment rights”, and when asked

to admit that “Policy 136 violates the 1968 Deed and Restrictive Covenant, in your opinion”, he

objects because it “calls for a legal conclusion” and denies the Request. See Exhibit A attached,

Response No. 18. And although he declares in Response No. 12 that “it has always been the un-

derstanding of John A. Bohn that as a member of the Board of Trustees he had no authority to

waive any of the covenants in the 1968 Deed,” he objects to admitting that “in adopting Policy

136 the IVGID Board of Trustees administratively changed the scope of the Restrictive Covenant

without a court order” because again, it “calls for a legal conclusion.” Response No. 19.

! It is worth remembering at this point that FRCP Rule 36 specifically allows Requests for

Admissions to ask for the truth of any matters relating to “facts, the application of law to fact, or

opinions about either.” It is also worth pointing out that defendants are simply wrong in stating

in their opposition to the instant motion that “the Federal Rules of Evidence do not cease to op-
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erate in a deposition taken pursuant to FRCP 30(b)(6) [and] opinion testimony by a law witness is 

improper and inadmissible.” Doc. 26 at p. 7.  This is not the trial.  It is the stage of litigation where 

the parties discover the evidence and separate the wheat from the chaff so that when the trial 

comes, the evidence will be clearly and efficiently presented, and no time will be lost in unimpor-

tant evidentiary side issues.   Rule 26(b)(1) specifically provides that “Relevant information need 

not be admissible at the trial if the discovery appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discov-

ery of admissible evidence,”  yet defendants’ conduct under the pre-trial Discovery Rules of this 

Court has thwarted almost every effort of plaintiff to prepare his case.  

! This has been done in part by a strangulating interpretation of what is “relevant” in this 

case based on defendants’ misrepresentation to the Court of the “fact” that “this entire lawsuit is 

about Plaintiff’s alleged inability to access the beach properties for First Amendment activities.”  

Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Compel, Doc. 26 p. 3.  Thus, when plaintiff tries to establish 

the individual defendants’ prohibited conflict in passing legislation concerning District owned 

property in which they claim a direct economic interest as pled in his Fourth Cause of Action 

(Doc. 3 beginning p. 34), or the creation of two classes of citizenship within the Incline Village 

General Improvement District which violates the Equal Protection of the law as pled in his First, 

Second, and Third Causes of Action, direct questions and requests to admit are avoided and 

evaded, and his discovery of the evidence necessary to prove his allegations is thwarted alto-

gether.  For example, when defendant Chuck Weinberger is asked to admit that 

IVGID Ordinance 7 Section 62 creates two classes of IVGID residents,  one class 
which is granted entry onto and use of the IVGID-owned Beach Properties for 
recreational purposes, and the other class which is denied entry onto and use 
of the IVGID-owned Beach Properties for recreational purposes, (Exhibit B 
attached hereto, Response No. 1),

he denies the Request even while his and the other defendants’ May 30, 2008 Reply to plaintiff’s 

Opposition to their Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 20) makes the following remarkable argument (em-

phasis added) based precisely on the two classes of citizenship which defendant Weinberger de-

nies here:

Indeed, what Plaintiff’s Complaint makes perfectly clear is that the owners of 
parcels of real property in IVGID on or before May 30, 1968 are treated differ-
ently than owners of parcels annexed to IVGID after May 30,  1968.   Respect-
fully,  there is no dissimilar treatment of similarly situated property owners in the in-

stant matter.  Instead, all of the owners of parcels of real property in IVGID as of May 

30, 1968 are all treated similarly.  Indeed, each of these owners was responsible 
for paying for the real property on which the IVGID beaches are located.  
Equally clear is that the same property owners have been responsible for pay-
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erate in a deposition taken pursuant to FRCP 30(b)(6) [and] opinion testimony by a law witness is

improper and inadmissible.” Doc. 26 at p. 7. This is not the trial. It is the stage of litigation where

the parties discover the evidence and separate the wheat from the chaff so that when the trial

comes, the evidence will be clearly and efficiently presented, and no time will be lost in unimpor-

tant evidentiary side issues. Rule 26(b)(1) specifically provides that “Relevant information need

not be admissible at the trial if the discovery appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discov-

ery of admissible evidence,” yet defendants’ conduct under the pre-trial Discovery Rules of this

Court has thwarted almost every effort of plaintiff to prepare his case.

! This has been done in part by a strangulating interpretation of what is “relevant” in this

case based on defendants’ misrepresentation to the Court of the “fact” that “this entire lawsuit is

about Plaintiff’s alleged inability to access the beach properties for First Amendment activities.”

Defendant’s Opposition to Motion to Compel, Doc. 26 p. 3. Thus, when plaintiff tries to establish

the individual defendants’ prohibited conflict in passing legislation concerning District owned

property in which they claim a direct economic interest as pled in his Fourth Cause of Action

(Doc. 3 beginning p. 34), or the creation of two classes of citizenship within the Incline Village

General Improvement District which violates the Equal Protection of the law as pled in his First,

Second, and Third Causes of Action, direct questions and requests to admit are avoided and

evaded, and his discovery of the evidence necessary to prove his allegations is thwarted alto-

gether. For example, when defendant Chuck Weinberger is asked to admit that

IVGID Ordinance 7 Section 62 creates two classes of IVGID residents, one class
which is granted entry onto and use of the IVGID-owned Beach Properties for
recreational purposes, and the other class which is denied entry onto and use
of the IVGID-owned Beach Properties for recreational purposes, (Exhibit B
attached hereto, Response No. 1),

he denies the Request even while his and the other defendants’ May 30, 2008 Reply to plaintiff’s

Opposition to their Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 20) makes the following remarkable argument (em-

phasis added) based precisely on the two classes of citizenship which defendant Weinberger de-

nies here:

Indeed, what Plaintiff’s Complaint makes perfectly clear is that the owners of
parcels of real property in IVGID on or before May 30, 1968 are treated differ-
ently than owners of parcels annexed to IVGID after May 30, 1968. Respect-
fully, there is no dissimilar treatment of similarly situated property owners in the in-
stant matter. Instead, all of the owners of parcels of real property in IVGID as of May
30, 1968 are all treated similarly. Indeed, each of these owners was responsible
for paying for the real property on which the IVGID beaches are located.
Equally clear is that the same property owners have been responsible for pay-
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ing for all of the improvements to the IVGID  beaches.  Nowhere does Plaintiff 
maintain otherwise either in his Complaint or in any documents he has pro-
vided to the Court.  … This being so, there are no facts either plead or other-
wise provided to the Court which allow this claim to proceed beyond on the 
instant Motion to Dismiss. (Doc. 20 at p. 2).

The misstatement of fact about plaintiff’s pleadings and the lack of evidentiary support for de-

fendants’ claim that plaintiff has never had to pay to support the Beach Properties has been dis-

cussed earlier;  but the legal assertion made here is breathtaking: that there are two classes of 

IVGID citizenship, and as long as IVGID treats the members of each class similarly, there is no 

violation of the Equal Protection clause of the Constitution.  This is nonsense.  And plaintiff needs 

to prove it so, but every avenue pursued under the discovery rules is foreclosed by defendants’ 

responses. When, for instance, plaintiff asks one of the defendants to admit  that 

17.  The property right which you and the District are defending in the above-
captioned lawsuit is the perceived right of exclusive access to and use of 
IVGID’s Beach Properties granted to property owners in Incline Village by vir-
tue of the Restrictive Covenant in the 1968 Deed, (see Exhibit B attached),

defendant Chuck Weinberger answers that and the followup Requests for Admissions in these 

words:

! RESPONSE No. 17:  Objection. Request for Admission No. 17 is 
vague and ambiguous is what is meant by "perceived right of exclusive ac-
cess."  Without waiving this objection, IVGID is defending the issues raised by 
Plaintiff in his first amended complaint. Further, without waiving this objec-
tion, Request for Admission No. 17 is denied. 

Request No. 18.  Defending the property right of those residents of the District 
who claim exclusive access to the District’s Beach Properties requires that you 
reject the claim by those residents of the District who are excluded from the 
Beach Properties and who assert their own rights therein and thereto.

! RESPONSE No. 18:   Objection.  Request for Admission No. 18 
assumes facts not in evidence. In this litigation IVGID is not defending the 
property rights of those residents of IVGID who claim exclusive access to 
IVGID's Beach Properties. Instead, IVGID is defending the issues raised by 
Plaintiff in his first amended complaint.  Without waiving these objections Re-
quest for Admission No. 18 is denied. 

Request No. 20.  Plaintiff STEVEN E. KROLL herein is a bona fide resident of 
IVGID but does not enjoy access to and full use of the tax-exempt IVGID Beach 
Properties for recreational purposes as you do.

! RESPONSE NO. 20.  Objection. Request for Admission No. 20 is 
vague and ambiguous in what is meant by the phrase "bona fide resident of 
IVGID."   Further, Charles Weinberger does not know whether Plaintiff has 
access to IVGID Beach Properties.   Without waiving these objections Charles  
Weinberger can neither admit nor deny Request for Admission No. 20.
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ing for all of the improvements to the IVGID beaches. Nowhere does Plaintiff
maintain otherwise either in his Complaint or in any documents he has pro-
vided to the Court. … This being so, there are no facts either plead or other-
wise provided to the Court which allow this claim to proceed beyond on the
instant Motion to Dismiss. (Doc. 20 at p. 2).

The misstatement of fact about plaintiff’s pleadings and the lack of evidentiary support for de-

fendants’ claim that plaintiff has never had to pay to support the Beach Properties has been dis-

cussed earlier; but the legal assertion made here is breathtaking: that there are two classes of

IVGID citizenship, and as long as IVGID treats the members of each class similarly, there is no

violation of the Equal Protection clause of the Constitution. This is nonsense. And plaintiff needs

to prove it so, but every avenue pursued under the discovery rules is foreclosed by defendants’

responses. When, for instance, plaintiff asks one of the defendants to admit that

17. The property right which you and the District are defending in the above-
captioned lawsuit is the perceived right of exclusive access to and use of
IVGID’s Beach Properties granted to property owners in Incline Village by vir-
tue of the Restrictive Covenant in the 1968 Deed, (see Exhibit B attached),

defendant Chuck Weinberger answers that and the followup Requests for Admissions in these

words:

! RESPONSE No. 17: Objection. Request for Admission No. 17 is
vague and ambiguous is what is meant by "perceived right of exclusive ac-
cess." Without waiving this objection, IVGID is defending the issues raised by
Plaintiff in his first amended complaint. Further, without waiving this objec-
tion, Request for Admission No. 17 is denied.

Request No. 18. Defending the property right of those residents of the District
who claim exclusive access to the District’s Beach Properties requires that you
reject the claim by those residents of the District who are excluded from the
Beach Properties and who assert their own rights therein and thereto.

! RESPONSE No. 18: Objection. Request for Admission No. 18
assumes facts not in evidence. In this litigation IVGID is not defending the
property rights of those residents of IVGID who claim exclusive access to
IVGID's Beach Properties. Instead, IVGID is defending the issues raised by
Plaintiff in his first amended complaint. Without waiving these objections Re-
quest for Admission No. 18 is denied.

Request No. 20. Plaintiff STEVEN E. KROLL herein is a bona fide resident of
IVGID but does not enjoy access to and full use of the tax-exempt IVGID Beach
Properties for recreational purposes as you do.

! RESPONSE NO. 20. Objection. Request for Admission No. 20 is
vague and ambiguous in what is meant by the phrase "bona fide resident of
IVGID." Further, Charles Weinberger does not know whether Plaintiff has
access to IVGID Beach Properties. Without waiving these objections Charles
Weinberger can neither admit nor deny Request for Admission No. 20.
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Request No. 21.  The benefit accruing to you personally by voting to maintain 
exclusive access to IVGID’s Beach Properties for 1968 Deed Holders in Incline 
Village is greater than that accruing to other IVGID property owners in Crystal 
Bay who are excluded from IVGID’s Beach Properties because they are not 
1968 Deed Holders.

! RESPONSE NO. 21.  Objection. Request for Admission No. 21 is 
vague in what is meant by the phrase "1968 Deed Holders in Incline Village." 
Without waiving this objection, Request for Admission No. 21 is denied. 

What do these answers mean?  They seem to admit then deny the same thing, making the time-

saving features of Requests for Admissions utterly useless.   And how can this defendant declare 

he “does not know whether Plaintiff has access to IVGID Beach Properties”?  He is a Trustee who 

has access to that information, and the signature on his discovery response constitutes a certifica-

tion that his answer is “complete and correct as of the time it is made” and formed “after a rea-

sonable inquiry.”  Rule 26(g)(1)(A) FRCP.    If nothing else he would have had the correct answer 

simply by looking at Exhibit E of plaintiff’s Complaint served on him in early March of this year 

to see a photograph of plaintiff’s IVGID Recreation Pass marked “NO BEACH” in big red letters.  

Instead, plaintiff has to prove this fact in some other way, and that is wrong and wasteful.

! The same discovery dead-end occurred when plaintiff focused on violation of Nevada’s 

Open Meeting Law alleged in his Fifth Cause of Action.  The following are excerpts from defen-

dant Chuck Weinberger’s Admission Responses served September 5, 2008 (Exhibit B attached):

Request No. 12.  At the Meeting of the IVGID Board of Trustees on July 9, 2008 
you said in words or substance that there is not nor will there ever be any 
backroom deals by IVGID Trustees.

! RESPONSE TO No. 12.  Objection.  The comment I made at the 
bottom of page 12 of the minutes of the IVGID meeting of July 9, 2008 (Exhibit 
169) was related to the Machata litigation.  This comment was not made in 
connection with the Kroll litigation.  Without waiving this objection, Request 
No. 12 is denied.

(In other words, Mr. Weinberger admits he made the statement, but denies it.)

Request No. 13.  By “backroom deals” in your July 9, 2008 public comments, 
you meant secret meetings and agreements among Trustees of IVGID made 
outside the public eye without advance public notice and input.

! RESPONSE TO No. 13:   Objection.  Request for Admission No. 13 
is unduly vague and ambiguous.   Further [it] is compound.  Without waiving 
these objections, actions of the IVGID Bd of Trustees are taken at public meet-
ings.   Further, without waiving these objections,  Request for Admissions No. 
13 is denied.”
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Request No. 21. The benefit accruing to you personally by voting to maintain
exclusive access to IVGID’s Beach Properties for 1968 Deed Holders in Incline
Village is greater than that accruing to other IVGID property owners in Crystal
Bay who are excluded from IVGID’s Beach Properties because they are not
1968 Deed Holders.

! RESPONSE NO. 21. Objection. Request for Admission No. 21 is
vague in what is meant by the phrase "1968 Deed Holders in Incline Village."
Without waiving this objection, Request for Admission No. 21 is denied.

What do these answers mean? They seem to admit then deny the same thing, making the time-

saving features of Requests for Admissions utterly useless. And how can this defendant declare

he “does not know whether Plaintiff has access to IVGID Beach Properties”? He is a Trustee who

has access to that information, and the signature on his discovery response constitutes a certifica-

tion that his answer is “complete and correct as of the time it is made” and formed “after a rea-

sonable inquiry.” Rule 26(g)(1)(A) FRCP. If nothing else he would have had the correct answer

simply by looking at Exhibit E of plaintiff’s Complaint served on him in early March of this year

to see a photograph of plaintiff’s IVGID Recreation Pass marked “NO BEACH” in big red letters.

Instead, plaintiff has to prove this fact in some other way, and that is wrong and wasteful.

! The same discovery dead-end occurred when plaintiff focused on violation of Nevada’s

Open Meeting Law alleged in his Fifth Cause of Action. The following are excerpts from defen-

dant Chuck Weinberger’s Admission Responses served September 5, 2008 (Exhibit B attached):

Request No. 12. At the Meeting of the IVGID Board of Trustees on July 9, 2008
you said in words or substance that there is not nor will there ever be any
backroom deals by IVGID Trustees.

! RESPONSE TO No. 12. Objection. The comment I made at the
bottom of page 12 of the minutes of the IVGID meeting of July 9, 2008 (Exhibit
169) was related to the Machata litigation. This comment was not made in
connection with the Kroll litigation. Without waiving this objection, Request
No. 12 is denied.

(In other words, Mr. Weinberger admits he made the statement, but denies it.)

Request No. 13. By “backroom deals” in your July 9, 2008 public comments,
you meant secret meetings and agreements among Trustees of IVGID made
outside the public eye without advance public notice and input.

! RESPONSE TO No. 13: Objection. Request for Admission No. 13
is unduly vague and ambiguous. Further [it] is compound. Without waiving
these objections, actions of the IVGID Bd of Trustees are taken at public meet-
ings. Further, without waiving these objections, Request for Admissions No.
13 is denied.”
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! The words that defendant Weinberger calls “unduly vague and ambiguous” came from 

his own mouth, as admitted in the previous Request.  One must assume he knew what he meant, 

and his “vague and ambiguous” objection is not well taken.  Request No. 13  is also not “com-

pound”.   Instead, these are discovery responses which appear to be “interposed for [an] im-

proper purpose, such as to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of liti-

gation” to plaintiff, contrary to FRCP Rule 26(g)(1).   Such would be further reason for this 

Court’s granting of plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Discovery and for Sanctions herein.

! In some of defendants’ discovery responses, their  game of Hide-and-Go-Seek transforms 

into a completely new and impossible discovery-rules game whose name is “Catch-22.”    In the 

Rule 33(b)(6) deposition of IVGID which occurred July 16, 2008 ,  Chairwoman of the Board Bea 

Epstein was designated by defendant IVGID to testify on its behalf “about information known or 

reasonably available to the organization.”  Plaintiff did not choose Mrs. Epstein, defendant IVGID 

did.  His deposition of her as an individual defendant will, if taken, cover matters completely 

different from defendant IVGID’s testimony on how Policy 136 came about, which was what 

plaintiff was specifically after.  Yet defendants converted plaintiff’s 33(b)(6) deposition of an en-

tity defendant into a personal deposition of the individual they had designated to speak for the 

entity, and then raised objections applicable to a personal deponent to attack plaintiff’s question-

ing during the deposition.  Three times in their Opposition to plaintiff’s motion herein they refer 

to the question asked of the witness speaking for IVGID to “tell me what your idea of the First 

Amendment is?” (Doc. 26, p.4; see also p. 8 line 10, and p. 10 line 16) without informing the Court 

that that question had been withdrawn in the first instance.  See transcript excerpt attached to 

defendants’ Opposition marked Exhibit A, Doc. 26 at p.  19.  And when, in a case which puts the 

burden of proof upon IVGID to show that its infringement of First Amendment rights served a 

“compelling governmental interest”, see e.g., Perry Educ. Ass’n v. Perry Local Educators’ Ass’n,  460 

U.S.  37,  45-46 (1983) plaintiff put the question properly, as quoted by defendants at page 4 of their 

Opposition here,

This is a policy respecting freedom of speech and expression.  I want to know 
what the district had in mind when they passed such legislation” (Doc. 26, p. 
21), 

defendants object again and dredge up  a “mental process privilege” and a “deliberative process 

privilege” wholly irrelevant to a 30(b)(6) agent designated to testify on behalf of the organization, 

and completely inapplicable in any event to legislation that takes place in secret where the public 

can not judge for themselves what deliberative process, if any, was exercised by their elected offi-
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! The words that defendant Weinberger calls “unduly vague and ambiguous” came from

his own mouth, as admitted in the previous Request. One must assume he knew what he meant,

and his “vague and ambiguous” objection is not well taken. Request No. 13 is also not “com-

pound”. Instead, these are discovery responses which appear to be “interposed for [an] im-

proper purpose, such as to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of liti-

gation” to plaintiff, contrary to FRCP Rule 26(g)(1). Such would be further reason for this

Court’s granting of plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Discovery and for Sanctions herein.

! In some of defendants’ discovery responses, their game of Hide-and-Go-Seek transforms

into a completely new and impossible discovery-rules game whose name is “Catch-22.” In the

Rule 33(b)(6) deposition of IVGID which occurred July 16, 2008 , Chairwoman of the Board Bea

Epstein was designated by defendant IVGID to testify on its behalf “about information known or

reasonably available to the organization.” Plaintiff did not choose Mrs. Epstein, defendant IVGID

did. His deposition of her as an individual defendant will, if taken, cover matters completely

different from defendant IVGID’s testimony on how Policy 136 came about, which was what

plaintiff was specifically after. Yet defendants converted plaintiff’s 33(b)(6) deposition of an en-

tity defendant into a personal deposition of the individual they had designated to speak for the

entity, and then raised objections applicable to a personal deponent to attack plaintiff’s question-

ing during the deposition. Three times in their Opposition to plaintiff’s motion herein they refer

to the question asked of the witness speaking for IVGID to “tell me what your idea of the First

Amendment is?” (Doc. 26, p.4; see also p. 8 line 10, and p. 10 line 16) without informing the Court

that that question had been withdrawn in the first instance. See transcript excerpt attached to

defendants’ Opposition marked Exhibit A, Doc. 26 at p. 19. And when, in a case which puts the

burden of proof upon IVGID to show that its infringement of First Amendment rights served a

“compelling governmental interest”, see e.g., Perry Educ. Ass’n v. Perry Local Educators’ Ass’n, 460

U.S. 37, 45-46 (1983) plaintiff put the question properly, as quoted by defendants at page 4 of their

Opposition here,

This is a policy respecting freedom of speech and expression. I want to know
what the district had in mind when they passed such legislation” (Doc. 26, p.
21),

defendants object again and dredge up a “mental process privilege” and a “deliberative process

privilege” wholly irrelevant to a 30(b)(6) agent designated to testify on behalf of the organization,

and completely inapplicable in any event to legislation that takes place in secret where the public

can not judge for themselves what deliberative process, if any, was exercised by their elected offi-
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cials. (Compare the Ninth Circuit’s reference to “the record of proceedings” along with “the facts 

surrounding enactment of the statute” –– both of which are absent in the case at bar –– as relevant 

to First Amendment inquiry.  City of Las Vegas v. Foley, 747 F.2d 1294, 1297 (9th Cir. 1984)).

! Actually, the withdrawn question of what IVGID’s “idea of the First Amendment was” 

was probably not objectionable in light of defendant’s representations about that issue made in 

their Reply to plaintiff’s Opposition to their Motion to Dismiss Complaint filed May 30, 2008, 

Doc. 20.  With reference to the Affidavit of Ronald L. Code (Doc. 9 pp.  5-14), for example,  defen-

dant’s write:

[T]he statement by Mr. Code that he was wearing a t-shirt which made a pol-
icy statement regarding Yucca Mountain again adds little or nothing to the in-
stant matter.  Nowhere in his affidavit does Mr. Code indicate that he wanted 
to access the IVGID beaches for purposes of exercising  First Amendment 
rights.  …

In fact Mr. Code did make clear his First Amendment purpose, as reading his Affidavit reveals, 

but what is interesting about defendants’ take on this incident is that they apparently think mak-

ing a statement about Yucca Mountain isn’t self-evidently the exercise of Free Speech.  At another 

point in their Reply, defendants coyly infer that even before Policy 136, citizens could enter the 

Beach Properties if only they declared they were there for constitutional purposes:  “Ordinance 

No. 7  §62,”  say these parties,

serves only to define those individuals permitted to take advantage of the rec-
reational facilities of the IVGID beaches.  It does not suggest that a person such 
as Plaintiff who is interested in accessing the properties to give a speech or 
otherwise exercise his First Amendment rights would be subject to prosecution 
or would even be denied  permission to do so. Doc. 20 p. 4.  

Yet in IVGID’s Policy 136 deposition on July 16, 2008, plaintiff tried to ask that question and was 

not allowed to get an answer, leading in part to this Motion to Compel.  From page 106 of the 

transcript:

 9   BY MR. KROLL:

10           Q   Is it the board's understanding that the beach

11   properties have always been open for the expression of

12   First Amendment rights or not?  Speaking of prior to

13   Policy 136?

14               MR. BALKENBUSH:  And my objection to that

15   would be that she can't speak for the board on that issue.

16               MR. KROLL:  I need to terminate this

17   deposition.  And I move to terminate the deposition for
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cials. (Compare the Ninth Circuit’s reference to “the record of proceedings” along with “the facts

surrounding enactment of the statute” -- both of which are absent in the case at bar -- as relevant

to First Amendment inquiry. City of Las Vegas v. Foley, 747 F.2d 1294, 1297 (9th Cir. 1984)).

! Actually, the withdrawn question of what IVGID’s “idea of the First Amendment was”

was probably not objectionable in light of defendant’s representations about that issue made in

their Reply to plaintiff’s Opposition to their Motion to Dismiss Complaint filed May 30, 2008,

Doc. 20. With reference to the Affidavit of Ronald L. Code (Doc. 9 pp. 5-14), for example, defen-

dant’s write:

[T]he statement by Mr. Code that he was wearing a t-shirt which made a pol-
icy statement regarding Yucca Mountain again adds little or nothing to the in-
stant matter. Nowhere in his affidavit does Mr. Code indicate that he wanted
to access the IVGID beaches for purposes of exercising First Amendment
rights. …

In fact Mr. Code did make clear his First Amendment purpose, as reading his Affidavit reveals,

but what is interesting about defendants’ take on this incident is that they apparently think mak-

ing a statement about Yucca Mountain isn’t self-evidently the exercise of Free Speech. At another

point in their Reply, defendants coyly infer that even before Policy 136, citizens could enter the

Beach Properties if only they declared they were there for constitutional purposes: “Ordinance

No. 7 §62,” say these parties,

serves only to define those individuals permitted to take advantage of the rec-
reational facilities of the IVGID beaches. It does not suggest that a person such
as Plaintiff who is interested in accessing the properties to give a speech or
otherwise exercise his First Amendment rights would be subject to prosecution
or would even be denied permission to do so. Doc. 20 p. 4.

Yet in IVGID’s Policy 136 deposition on July 16, 2008, plaintiff tried to ask that question and was

not allowed to get an answer, leading in part to this Motion to Compel. From page 106 of the

transcript:

9 BY MR. KROLL:
10 Q Is it the board's understanding that the beach

11 properties have always been open for the expression of

12 First Amendment rights or not? Speaking of prior to

13 Policy 136?

14 MR. BALKENBUSH: And my objection to that

15 would be that she can't speak for the board on that issue.

16 MR. KROLL: I need to terminate this

17 deposition. And I move to terminate the deposition for
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18   the purposes of making a motion.  …

! Plaintiff expects to prove that Policy 136 was cooked up by defendants’ lawyers not to 

address perceived First Amendment problems (there were none), but as a litigation ploy in the 

instant lawsuit that they thought would defeat plaintiff’s case, which they stubbornly continue to 

believe is only about the First Amendment.   If it is ever allowed to be gathered properly, the evi-

dence herein will show that IVGID’s only “compelling government interest” in adopting this in-

fringement on free speech was to secure dismissal of plaintiff’s lawsuit against them.  And in this 

case as in the Ninth Circuit’s Blue Line Policy case,  Gerritsen v. City of Los Angeles, 994 F.2d 570 

(9th Cir. 1993), plaintiff expects this Court will be unable to 

discern any significant government interest in proposing the permit rule. The 
record reveals only one express reason for the City's enacting the permit 
scheme - to make it more difficult for Gerritsen to distribute handbills regard-
ing his political beliefs.

We hold that this purpose is not a significant government interest. Moreover, it is not 

a legitimate government interest - it is precisely the type of viewpoint censorship 
which the Constitution seeks to prevent.  Id.  ¶¶54-55, emphasis added.!

! There were other evidentiary problems with IVGID’s Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition on July 16, 

2008 as well.  Defendants claim in their Opposition to this Motion that “Ms. Epstein gave a de-

tailed account of the history of Policy No. 136, from the initial discussions of the policy IVGID 

had with its legal counsel,  through its adoption in April of this year.”  (Doc. 26 p. 4).  They say she 

“fully described the genesis of the policy”, Id., “gave exhaustive testimony about the genesis”, Id. 

at p. 5, and “testified to all the facts within her knowledge”, Id.  at p. 8.    Problem is:  she may 

have got it wrong.  In the excerpt from her deposition attached as Exhibit A to defendants’ Oppo-

sition herein (Doc. 26), Chairwoman Epstein refers to a meeting of all IVGID Board members and 

legal counsel on or about April 23, 2008,  lasting “possibly an hour or more” (Doc. 26 p. 20), and 

testifies that Policy 136 was discussed and that “we may have made a couple of recommenda-

tions in terms of simplification of language,” but that “the board members approve[d] of that 

language at this April 23rd meeting.”  Id.   

! Based on that testimony, plaintiff framed interrogatories and requests for admissions to 

other defendants regarding that April 23, 2008 meeting, only to find that they contradicted Mrs. 

Epstein’s testimony, saying that that meeting never occurred.  Although defendants are under 

obligation to “supplement or correct” the July 16th IVGID deposition or the subsequent contradic-

tory discovery testimony by other defendants “in a timely manner if the party learns that in some 
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18 the purposes of making a motion. …

! Plaintiff expects to prove that Policy 136 was cooked up by defendants’ lawyers not to

address perceived First Amendment problems (there were none), but as a litigation ploy in the

instant lawsuit that they thought would defeat plaintiff’s case, which they stubbornly continue to

believe is only about the First Amendment. If it is ever allowed to be gathered properly, the evi-

dence herein will show that IVGID’s only “compelling government interest” in adopting this in-

fringement on free speech was to secure dismissal of plaintiff’s lawsuit against them. And in this

case as in the Ninth Circuit’s Blue Line Policy case, Gerritsen v. City of Los Angeles, 994 F.2d 570

(9th Cir. 1993), plaintiff expects this Court will be unable to

discern any significant government interest in proposing the permit rule. The
record reveals only one express reason for the City's enacting the permit
scheme - to make it more difficult for Gerritsen to distribute handbills regard-
ing his political beliefs.

We hold that this purpose is not a significant government interest. Moreover, it is not
a legitimate government interest - it is precisely the type of viewpoint censorship

which the Constitution seeks to prevent. Id. ¶¶54-55, emphasis added.!

! There were other evidentiary problems with IVGID’s Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition on July 16,

2008 as well. Defendants claim in their Opposition to this Motion that “Ms. Epstein gave a de-

tailed account of the history of Policy No. 136, from the initial discussions of the policy IVGID

had with its legal counsel, through its adoption in April of this year.” (Doc. 26 p. 4). They say she

“fully described the genesis of the policy”, Id., “gave exhaustive testimony about the genesis”, Id.

at p. 5, and “testified to all the facts within her knowledge”, Id. at p. 8. Problem is: she may

have got it wrong. In the excerpt from her deposition attached as Exhibit A to defendants’ Oppo-

sition herein (Doc. 26), Chairwoman Epstein refers to a meeting of all IVGID Board members and

legal counsel on or about April 23, 2008, lasting “possibly an hour or more” (Doc. 26 p. 20), and

testifies that Policy 136 was discussed and that “we may have made a couple of recommenda-

tions in terms of simplification of language,” but that “the board members approve[d] of that

language at this April 23rd meeting.” Id.

! Based on that testimony, plaintiff framed interrogatories and requests for admissions to

other defendants regarding that April 23, 2008 meeting, only to find that they contradicted Mrs.

Epstein’s testimony, saying that that meeting never occurred. Although defendants are under

obligation to “supplement or correct” the July 16th IVGID deposition or the subsequent contradic-

tory discovery testimony by other defendants “in a timely manner if the party learns that in some
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material respect the disclosure or response is incomplete or incorrect,” FRCP 26(e), this was never 

done and plaintiff was sent on a wild goose chase to learn the facts of these non-public meetings 

on Policy 136 which have still not been revealed, even though the dates on which the Trustees or 

any of them met with their lawyers can be easily obtained through IVGID’s (or the lawyers’) bill-

ing records.  Instead,  for example, while defendant Robert C. Wolf joins defendants John A. Bohn 

and Chuck Weinberger in denying that any meeting on or about April 23,  2008 ever took place 

(Exhibit B,  Response 5),  he answers Interrogatory No. 4 asking him to “please set forth each and 

every meeting you had or were invited to attend at which any two or more other IVGID Trustees 

were in attendance and which was treated as a “private meeting” of the kind referred to in Ex-

hibit 171”  by saying he “recalled” a meeting in March of 2008 and another one in May of 2008, 

with nothing more specific. 

Conclusion 

! Only two weeks ago in another case announced by this Court,   Bally Gaming, Inc. v. IGT, 

No. 3:06-CV-0483-ECR-RAM (D.Nev. 09/09/2008),  Judge Reed observed that before presenting a 

Rule 56 Motion for Summary Judgment “the moving party must have made reasonable efforts to 

discover whether the nonmoving party has enough evidence to carry its burden at trial.” ¶15.  

With a Hearing scheduled for October 8, 2008 on plaintiff’s motion to enjoin IVGID Policy 136 

regulating the content and location of Free Speech contrary to the First Amendment, where “the 

usual presumption of constitutionality afforded congressional enactments is reversed” and “the 

Government bears the burden of showing their constitutionality,” United States v.  Playboy Enter-

tainment Group, Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 817 (2000), plaintiff still does not know –– despite his “reason-

able efforts to discover” –– what evidence the defendants in this case will be able to introduce  to 

demonstrate a “compelling state interest” sufficient to overcome the presumption of unconstitu-

tionality.  Similarly, vast amounts of information have been denied plaintiff in the planning of the 

trial of the other issues raised by his Complaint, and this Reply Memorandum has not discussed 

any number of other defects in the defendants’ discovery responses to date because of space limi-

tations and lack of time.  

! But if the parties are to make good use of Rule 56 Summary Judgment to pare this case 

down to only the issues that are genuinely disputed for trial;  and if they are to “move on to the 

very important issues of gathering all of the evidence each of us will need to present the best pos-

sible case for each side in as cordial and professional a manner as possible, and then abide the 

resolution of our conflict by the Court”, as plaintiff’s counsel wrote his opposite number on April 
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material respect the disclosure or response is incomplete or incorrect,” FRCP 26(e), this was never

done and plaintiff was sent on a wild goose chase to learn the facts of these non-public meetings

on Policy 136 which have still not been revealed, even though the dates on which the Trustees or

any of them met with their lawyers can be easily obtained through IVGID’s (or the lawyers’) bill-

ing records. Instead, for example, while defendant Robert C. Wolf joins defendants John A. Bohn

and Chuck Weinberger in denying that any meeting on or about April 23, 2008 ever took place

(Exhibit B, Response 5), he answers Interrogatory No. 4 asking him to “please set forth each and

every meeting you had or were invited to attend at which any two or more other IVGID Trustees

were in attendance and which was treated as a “private meeting” of the kind referred to in Ex-

hibit 171” by saying he “recalled” a meeting in March of 2008 and another one in May of 2008,

with nothing more specific.

Conclusion

! Only two weeks ago in another case announced by this Court, Bally Gaming, Inc. v. IGT,

No. 3:06-CV-0483-ECR-RAM (D.Nev. 09/09/2008), Judge Reed observed that before presenting a

Rule 56 Motion for Summary Judgment “the moving party must have made reasonable efforts to

discover whether the nonmoving party has enough evidence to carry its burden at trial.” ¶15.

With a Hearing scheduled for October 8, 2008 on plaintiff’s motion to enjoin IVGID Policy 136

regulating the content and location of Free Speech contrary to the First Amendment, where “the

usual presumption of constitutionality afforded congressional enactments is reversed” and “the

Government bears the burden of showing their constitutionality,” United States v. Playboy Enter-

tainment Group, Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 817 (2000), plaintiff still does not know -- despite his “reason-

able efforts to discover” -- what evidence the defendants in this case will be able to introduce to

demonstrate a “compelling state interest” sufficient to overcome the presumption of unconstitu-

tionality. Similarly, vast amounts of information have been denied plaintiff in the planning of the

trial of the other issues raised by his Complaint, and this Reply Memorandum has not discussed

any number of other defects in the defendants’ discovery responses to date because of space limi-

tations and lack of time.

! But if the parties are to make good use of Rule 56 Summary Judgment to pare this case

down to only the issues that are genuinely disputed for trial; and if they are to “move on to the

very important issues of gathering all of the evidence each of us will need to present the best pos-

sible case for each side in as cordial and professional a manner as possible, and then abide the

resolution of our conflict by the Court”, as plaintiff’s counsel wrote his opposite number on April
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29, 2008 (See Counsel’s Certification of Good Faith, Doc. 25 p. 11), plaintiff respectfully submits 

these goals will be achieved only by this Court’s intervention in this matter, and its granting of 

the instant Motion to Compel Discovery and For Sanctions.

DATED: at Crystal Bay, Nevada this 22nd day of September, 2008.

! ! ! ! ! ! ! Respectfully submitted,

! ! ! ! ! ! ! Steven E. Kroll, Esq.
! ! ! ! ! ! ! Attorney for Plaintiff

!
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29, 2008 (See Counsel’s Certification of Good Faith, Doc. 25 p. 11), plaintiff respectfully submits

these goals will be achieved only by this Court’s intervention in this matter, and its granting of

the instant Motion to Compel Discovery and For Sanctions.

DATED: at Crystal Bay, Nevada this 22nd day of September, 2008.

! ! ! ! ! ! ! Respectfully submitted,

! ! ! ! ! ! ! Steven E. Kroll, Esq.

! ! ! ! ! ! ! Attorney for Plaintiff

!
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EXHIBIT A:  

Defendant JOHN A. BOHN’s Responses 

to Plaintiff’s Requests for Admissions to 

Defendant John A. Bohn (First Set)

(A different first page was submitted by defendants following service of this document to correct 

a technical defect but this has not yet been scanned)
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! Pursuant  to Rule 5(b) FRCP, I certify that I am the attorney for Plaintiff  in 

the above entitled action, and that on this date I caused a true and correct copy of 

the “Plaintiff’s Reply to Opposition to Motion to Compel Discovery and 

for Sanctions, Exhibits A, B, and C” herein to  be served upon the parties or 

attorneys by electronically filing the same with this Court pursuant to and in 

compliance with its CM/ECF filing system, to which the following named 

attorney for all named defendants is a signatory:

Stephen C. Balkenbush, Esq.

Thorndal, Armstrong, Delk, Balkenbush & Eisinger

6590 South McCarran Blvd. Suite B

Reno, Nevada 89509

DATED: this 22nd  day of Sepember, 2008.
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